RECEIVED

Jul 08 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Jessica A. Salvini, Circuit Court Judge

Joshua Hawkins.....Appellant,

v.

Delta Airlines.....Respondent.

Appellate Case No. 2025-001494

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Joshua T. Hawkins, S.C. Bar #78470
Helena L. Jedziniak, S.C. Bar #100825
Hawkins & Jedziniak, LLC
1225 South Church Street
Greenville, South Carolina 29605
(864) 275-8142 (telephone)
(864) 752-0911 (facsimile)
Attorneys for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

1. Does an email from Magistrate Court staff, which indicates a filed order will be mailed to the parties, constitute delivery of the order, when delivery of the order is required to begin the time to appeal the Magistrate Court order?
2. Did the Magistrate Court err in dismissing the plaintiff's entire case where the defendant only requested a partial dismissal?
3. Was jurisdiction proper in the Magistrate Court?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case turns on whether an email from Magistrate Court staff indicating that a signed order will be mailed to the parties satisfies “delivery of written notice of judgment to the parties” to begin the 30-day clock to appeal the order. SCRMC 18(a). It is uncontested that the Magistrate Court never mailed or delivered the signed and filed order in this case to either party. SCRMC 18(a) does not mention email, and Respondent cites no authority supporting its argument that an email indicating a proposed order will be signed and delivered satisfies actual “delivery.” Appellant respectfully submits that the Magistrate Court never delivered notice of judgment, that the notice of appeal was timely, and this case should be remanded to the Circuit Court for a decision on the merits.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The issues on appeal involve questions of law. Questions of law are decided *de novo*, meaning that “a review in court is free to decide questions of law with no particular deference to the trial court.” *Personal Care, Inc. v. Theo*, 426 S.C. 78 S.E.2d 281 (Ct. App. 2019). In reviewing a South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure, the Court applies the same rules of construction used in interpreting statutes. *Green v. Lewis Truck Lines, Inc.*, 314 S.C. 303 (1994). “If the rule’s language is plain, unambiguous, and conveys a clear meaning, interpretation is unnecessary, and the stated meaning should be enforced.” *Maxwell v. Genez*, 356 S.C. 617 (2003).

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

Appellant filed suit in Magistrate Court, setting forth several causes of action against Respondent Delta. The claims stemmed from three trips. First, Appellant alleged that Respondent violated its own terms related to Appellant's trip to New York. Respondent's terms acknowledge customers may bring claims for violations of its own terms, and Appellant asserted a claim consistent with those terms. Second, Appellant asserted a claim under the Montreal Convention for baggage damage occasioned by delay associated with a trip to New Zealand. Third, Appellant asserted a claim under the Montreal Convention for baggage damage occasioned by delay associated with a trip to Portugal. Appellant pled sufficient facts for each claim, and asserted recognized, viable causes of action.

Respondent then moved to dismiss certain portions of the suit, but acknowledged at the hearing on Respondent's motion that Respondent did not seek dismissal of the entire suit. Even though Respondent did not seek a dismissal of the entire case, the Court indicated it would dismiss the entire case, and indicated the case should be heard in some other Court, somewhere, without specifying which Court or where. The Court then instructed Respondent to submit a proposed order, which Respondent did. After Respondent submitted the proposed order¹, Respondent emailed the Magistrate Court inquiring about whether the order was ever signed. On December 4, 2024, Michelle Pegg with the Magistrate Court responded to that inquiry with the following email to the office for Respondent's counsel at 12:43 p.m.:

Judy,

Going forward please mail all correspondence into our office at the address below.

I will not be accepting any further emails.

¹ Appellant objected to the proposed order, which is reflected in the emails submitted herewith. (R. pp. 550-552).

Michelle Pegg
East Greenville Summary Court
320 W. Main Street
Taylors, SC 29687
864-467-4625

On December 4, 2024, at 1:17 p.m., Ms. Pegg from the Magistrate Court sent the following email to Respondent only, without copying Appellant:²

I have provided Judge Hubbard with the papers that were emailed.
I will mail a copy of the signed Order.

Michelle Pegg
East Greenville Summary Court
320 W. Main Street
Taylors, SC 29687
864-467-4625

Emphasis added. December 4, 2024, email from East Greenville Magistrate Court.
(R. p. 553).

Notwithstanding the email indicating an executed order would be mailed, the Magistrate Court never mailed or delivered the order to either party as required by SCRMC 18(a) to start the 30-day to time to file a notice of appeal. In an abundance of caution, Appellant filed a notice of appeal with the Circuit Court on December 26, 2024, and mailed copies of the notice of appeal to the Magistrate Court and to the Respondent on December 30, 2024. (R. pp. 537-546). Electronic filing is not yet available in Magistrate Court.

The Magistrate Court was required to file a Return to the Notice of Appeal “[w]ithin thirty (30) days of the date of filing the notice of appeal with the Circuit Court.” SCRMC 18(b). The Magistrate Court did not file any Return within thirty days, and neither Appellant nor Respondent was aware a Return had ever been filed until the Circuit Court advised the parties at the hearing

² Respondent then added Appellant to its response to Ms. Pegg’s email.

on the notice of appeal that a Return was filed, but unavailable on the public index. The Return was both untimely³ and unavailable on the public index. (R. pp. 140-403).

Despite the fact that the Magistrate Court never delivered notice of judgment to the parties, Respondent moved to dismiss the appeal based on timeliness. Respondent argued that the Magistrate Court's courtesy email to the parties satisfied delivery and service of notice of judgment on the parties. Respondent then used the date of the email in which Court staff indicated an order *would be* delivered to calculate when thirty days had passed, and argued that it did not matter that Appellant had already served both the Magistrate Court and Respondent.

Respondent argued that because the Magistrate Court physically received the Notice of Appeal in the mail 33 days after Magistrate Court staff sent an email indicating that an order *would be* delivered, the appeal should be dismissed. The public index for the Magistrate Court does not provide when the order was filed. Appellant believes he first received a copy of the signed and filed order on April 4, 2025, when Respondent emailed it.⁴ Presumably, Respondent obtained the order after traveling to the Magistrate Court to retrieve it since the Magistrate Court never delivered notice of judgment and a signed, filed order to either party.

Either the South Carolina Magistrate Court Rules require physical delivery of documents to start the appeal clock, in which case this appeal is timely because no notice of judgment has ever been physically delivered to the parties, or, if the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure

³ The public index indicates the Return was filed with the Circuit Court on May 9, 2025, but the uploaded copy is not stamped.

⁴ Appellant has searched for earlier emails with the order attached, so far unsuccessfully. Presumably, Respondent will reference any earlier email if one exists, but regardless of whether any earlier email with the order attached was sent, an attachment does not constitute "delivery" under SCRMC 18(a).

and the Appellate Court Rules apply, the appeal is timely because the Magistrate Court was served by mail less than thirty days after it dismissed the case.

Appellant made these arguments to the Circuit Court and submitted a brief on the issues, but the Circuit Court granted Respondent's motion to dismiss the appeal. Appellant preserved all substantive and procedural issues for review, and timely filed a SCRCP 56(e) motion with the Circuit Court following the Circuit Court's hearing on the appeal from the Magistrate Court. The Circuit Court denied Appellant's SCRCP 59(e) motion, and Appellant then timely filed this appeal.

ARGUMENTS

I. The appeal is timely.

a. The appeal is timely under the Magistrate Court Rules.

South Carolina Magistrate Court Rule 18(a) states:

Within thirty (30) days after **delivery** of written notice of judgment to the parties or their attorneys, a party wishing to appeal shall serve on the respondent and file a notice of appeal containing a statement of the grounds for appeal with the magistrate rendering the judgment and with the Circuit Court of the County where the judgment was rendered.

South Carolina Rules of Magistrate's Court, Rule 18(a). (emphasis added).

The plain language of SCRMC 18(a) does not mention or authorize email, with or without attachments, to satisfy "delivery of written notice of judgment to the parties." In *Robinson v. Hassiotis*, 364 S.C. 92, 610 S.E.2d 858 (Ct. App. 2005), this Court examined a case where a litigant in Magistrate Court received oral notice of a trial date when written notice was required by the Magistrate Court Rules. The held "In this case, Hassiotis received oral notice concerning his trial date prior to the time that he filed his answer. But oral notice is not sufficient under the Magistrate's Courts Rules. The rules contemplate *written* notice of trial and contemplate delivery of the notice after the filing of the answer." *Id.* The Court of Appeals also explained that "Rule 6(b) SCRMC, requires service to be made 'by personal service, or service by publication in a manner provided

for in Title 15 of the South Carolina Code of Law or by mail....” *Id.* It is uncontested that the Magistrate Court never served or delivered anything personally or by mail to Appellant or Respondent, and “delivery of written notice of judgment to the parties” is required to begin the time to file a notice of appeal. SCRMC 18(a). The plain language of the Rule does not mention courtesy emails, and Respondent cites no law allowing a courtesy email to substitute for what the plain language of the Rule requires – actual “delivery of written notice of judgment.” *Id.*

The Magistrate Court seemed to acknowledge the delivery requirement in the courtesy email itself: “I have provided Judge Hubbard with the papers that were emailed. I will mail a copy of the signed Order.” (R. p. 553. Michelle Pegg email, December 4, 2024.) However, it appears that “written notice of judgment” was never “deliver[ed]” “to the parties.”⁵

The email from the Magistrate Court does not constitute service under the Magistrate’s Courts Rules. Under *Robinson*, the Magistrate Court Rules require delivery of a *written notice* to the parties. No such *written notice* was delivered to the Appellant or Respondent. In fact, Rule 8(b) of the SCRMC provides the process of delivery stating:

Delivery of a copy within this rule means: **handing it** to the attorney or party; or **leaving it** at the office; or, if there is no one in charge, leaving it at the party’s usual place of abode **with a resident of suitable age and discretion**; or **mailing it** to the last known address of that party.

South Carolina Rules of Magistrate’s Court, Rule 8(b). (emphasis added)

The language of SCRMC Rules 8(a) and 18(b), in combination with *Robinson*, contemplate delivery of a physical written notice. Respondent has taken the position that “delivery” of documents means physically delivery when that position helps Respondent, arguing that the

⁵ Appellant is aware there is a possibility he is wrong. However, Appellant has no evidence that any notice of judgment was ever received in his office, and has inquired of Respondent’s counsel whether that office ever received a mailed copy of the order from the Magistrate Court. By all indications, the Magistrate Court never mailed or delivered the order to either party.

delivery time for the notice of appeal is when it was physically received by the Magistrate Court. If Respondent's rationale for the physical delivery requirement is applied to the Magistrate Court's order, then Appellant's appeal is timely because the Notice of Appeal was delivered "[w]ithin thirty (30) days after delivery of written notice of judgment to the parties..." In fact, the "thirty...days after delivery of...judgment" still has not lapsed because the Magistrate Court never "delivered" notice of judgment to Appellant or the Respondent. If the word "delivered" means physical delivery, the clock cannot have started because no notice of judgment or order has ever been physically delivered to Appellant or anyone else. All of this was disclosed in open court. R. pp. 517, line 1 - 519, line 25).

Although Respondent homed in on the word "delivery," and insisted it means physical receipt by the Magistrate Court for the notice of appeal to the Circuit Court, the Respondent was adamant that "delivery...to the parties" is satisfied by a courtesy email for the Magistrate Court's order. Both cannot be true. If "delivery" is physical, then the parties are still waiting on the Magistrate Court to deliver notice of the judgment and start the clock running to file the Notice of Appeal.

Even if the Magistrate Court had mailed notice of judgment to the parties the very same day it sent the email, it could not have been physically delivered until the next day, which would make the deadline for the appeal January 6, 2025, which is when the Magistrate Court received it (January 4, 2025 is a Saturday.) Appellant served the Magistrate Court and Circuit Court via certified mail on December 30, 2024, within the statutory deadline. (R.pp.537-547). The Magistrate Court did not submit rationale for its decision within 30 days as required by SCRMC 18(b).

b. The appeal is timely under the Rules of Civil Procedure.

SCRCP 6(e) provides:

Whenever a party has the right or is required to do some act or take some proceedings within a prescribed period after the service of a notice or other paper upon him and the notice or paper is served upon him by mail or upon a person designated by statute to accept service, five days shall be added to the prescribed period.

South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 6(e).

As set forth above, the Magistrate Court never served or delivered notice of judgment on either of the parties. Rather, the Magistrate sent a courtesy email and informed the parties that the final order would be mailed. Where the Magistrate Court delivers notice of judgment, as required by SCRMC 18(a), five days must be added to the time for Appellant to file any appeal if the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure are applied. With this calculation, Appellant filed and served the appeal with several days to spare because SCRCP 5(b)(1) provides that “service by mail is complete upon mailing.”

Assuming, arguendo, the Magistrate Court mailed its order the same day it sent a courtesy email indicating the order would be mailed, the order could not arrive at the Appellant’s office until December 5, 2024, the time to serve and file the notice of appeal would be January 8, 2025, 35 days after the Magistrate Court mailed the order. Appellant mailed the notice of appeal to the Magistrate Court on December 30, 2024, and it was received in the Magistrate Court on January 6, 2025.

c. The appeal is timely under the Appellate Court Rules.

SCACR 262(a) provides that filing may be accomplished by “(2) **[d]epositing the document in the U.S. mail**, properly addressed to the clerk of the appellate court, with sufficient first-class postage attached. **The date of filing shall be the date of mailing.**” *South Carolina Appellate Court Rules*, Rule 262(a) (emphasis added). Even if the Magistrate Court’s informal email had satisfied the requirement for the Magistrate Court to “deliver[] written notice of

judgment to the parties,” and started the clock running for Appellant to file his Notice of Appeal, by the plain language of the Appellate Court Rules, Appellant’s Notice of Appeal was filed well before the thirty-day deadline. The Magistrate’s Court’s email was sent on December 4, 2024, and even without adding five days for mailing (again, the Magistrate Court never mailed, delivered, or served notice of judgment), Appellant mailed the Notice of Appeal to the Magistrate Court 26 days later, on December 30, 2024.

d. The appeal is timely by any calculation.

Respondent has advanced the argument that Appellant’s appeal is untimely even though the Magistrate Court never delivered notice of judgment to the parties, which must happen to start the thirty (30) day clock for the Notice of Appeal to be filed. The Circuit Court committed reversible error when it adopted that argument, and the Circuit Court should have amended or altered its order to conform to the law and the Rules. Adoption of Respondent’s flawed argument ultimately punished Appellant for filing and serving the Notice of Appeal within 30 days of the informal email in an abundance of caution. There is no Rule or case that allows a Magistrate Court’s informal email to start the clock to file a Notice of Appeal or which cures failure to meet that requirement that the order be “deliver[ed]” under SCRMC 18(a).

Under the strictest possible analysis – if the Magistrate Court had mailed notice of judgment the same day it sent the email, and without adding five days for mailing – Appellant’s appeal is still timely. But because the Magistrate Court has still never delivered notice of judgment to the parties, the clock has never started running, and Appellant’s appeal is also timely for that reason.

II. The Magistrate Court erred when it granted Delta’s motion to dismiss.

a. The Magistrate Court’s dismissal of the entire case was contra to well-established law.

“If the facts alleged and inferences reasonably deducible therefrom, viewed in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, would entitle the plaintiff to relief on any theory, then dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6) is improper.” *Doe v. Marion*, 645 S.E.2d 245 (2007); *Baird v. Charleston County*, 333 S.C. 519, 511 S.E.2d 69 (1999); *Stiles v. Onorato*, 318 S.C. 297, 457 S.E.2d 601 (1995). Respondent acknowledged the plaintiff could recover on some of the allegations and causes of action set forth in the complaint, and Respondent did not request a total dismissal. The Magistrate Court seemed to acknowledge the complaint’s viable causes of action, but asserted the Court should not dismiss some claims and retain others. The Magistrate Court seemed to indicate the case should be heard in another Court, but did not indicate which Court.

Appellant’s complaint cites portions of Delta’s terms that Delta violated, and several facts related to Delta’s conduct, breaches of duties, and breaches of contractual obligations, which proximately caused Appellant’s damages. (R. pp. 39-50). Cases like *Baird v. Charleston County*, 333 S.C. 519, 511 S.E.2d 69 (1999), *Doe v. Marion*, 645 S.E.2d 245 (2007), *Stiles v. Onorato*, 318 S.C. 297, 457 S.E.2d 601 (1995), a whole host of other cases, and the Rules of Civil Procedure all required the Magistrate Court to deny Respondent’s motion to dismiss.⁶

Appellant set forth facts and allegations that, if assumed true, allow recovery under the Montreal Convention. “A circuit court must deny a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6) ‘if facts alleged and inferences reasonably deducible therefrom would entitle the plaintiff to relief on any theory of the case.’ *Flateau v. Harrelson*, 355 S.C. 197, 203, 584 S.E.2d 413, 415 (Ct. App.

⁶ Delta also moved pursuant to SCRPC 12(b)(1) and 10(c). However, is undisputed that Delta does business in South Carolina and that subject matter jurisdiction and personal jurisdiction were proper as to at least some of the claims dismissed by the Magistrate Court.

2003).”⁷ “The question is whether, in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, and with every doubt resolved in his behalf, the complaint states any valid claim for relief.” *Plyler v. Burns*, 373 S.C. 637, 645, 647 S.E.2d 188, 192 (2007). (Emphasis added.)

Appellant alleged “damage occasioned by delay,” contract non-performance, and pled ample, specific facts supporting those claims. (See Montreal Convention Article 19: “The carrier is liable for damage occasioned by delay in the carriage by air of passengers, baggage or cargo.” See also, *Paradis v. Ghana Airways Ltd*, 348 F. Supp. 2d 106 (So. Dist. N.Y. (2004).) Because the law – the Montreal Convention and the cases interpreting it – allow Appellant to recover for the conduct described and alleged in the complaint, the Magistrate Court should have denied Respondent’s motion to dismiss.

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