RECEIVED
Jul 06 2026
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Jessica A. Salvini, Circuit Court Judge

Case No.: 2024-CP-23-07485

Appellate Case No. 2025-001494

Joshua Hawkins Appellant,

v.

Delta Air Lines, Inc. Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

WILKES ATKINSON & JOYNER, LLC

C. Daniel Atkinson (S.C. Bar #72721)

datkinson@wajlawfirm.com

Emma L. Allison (S.C. Bar #107944)

eallison@wajlawfirm.com

127 Dunbar St., Suite 200

Spartanburg, SC 29306

Telephone: (864) 591-1113

Attorney for Respondent

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

Rules and deadlines.⁸ He cannot completely outsource that responsibility to his non-attorney staff,⁹ as he has done here. Appellant allows the fault of the missed deadline to fall entirely to his paralegal and takes no responsibility for the mistake. The Court does have the authority to allow for an extension when there has been no demonstration of good cause for the missed deadline, so the Court does not have authority to allow for an extension here.

b. This Court cannot cure the issues of subject matter or appellate jurisdiction from the lower courts and cannot rescue Appellant from his mistake.

Failure to comply with the procedural requirement of proper notice to appeal divests the reviewing court of jurisdiction to hear the appeal. Whether a court has subject matter jurisdiction is “fundamental,” and therefore no one can “waive” a court’s lack of subject matter jurisdiction. *Anderson v. Anderson*, 299 S.C. 110, 115, 382 S.E.2d 897, 900 (1989). Even this Court has the responsibility to examine its own subject matter jurisdiction and may do so at any time upon the Court’s own motion. *Tatnall v. Gardner*, 350 S.C. 135, 137, 564 S.E.2d 377, 378 (Ct. App. 2002); *Nix v. Columbia Staffing, Inc.*, 322 S.C. 277, 280, 471 S.E.2d 718, 719 (Ct. App. 1996); Rule 12(h)(3), SCRCF.

“The appellate court must always take notice of the lack of subject matter jurisdiction. *Amisub of S.C., Inc. v. Passmore*, 316 S.C. at 114. The lack of subject matter jurisdiction can be raised **at any time**, can be raised for the first time **on appeal**, and can be raised *sua sponte* by the

⁸ See Rule 1.1, RPC, Rule 407, SCACR (“Competent representation requires the legal knowledge, skill, thoroughness and preparation reasonably necessary for the representation.”).

⁹ See Rule 5.3(a), RPC, Rule 407, SCACR (“[A] partner . . . shall make reasonable efforts to ensure that the firm has in effect measures giving reasonable assurance that the person’s conduct is compatible with the professional obligations of the lawyer[.]”); Rule 5.3(b), RPC, Rule 407, SCACR (“[A] lawyer having direct supervisory authority over the nonlawyer. . . shall make reasonable efforts to ensure that the person’s conduct is compatible with the professional obligations of the lawyer[.]”)

court. *See, e.g., Lake v. Reeder Constr. Co.*, 330 S.C. 242, 248, 498 S.E.2d 650, 653 (Ct. App. 1998) (holding issues related to subject matter jurisdiction may be raised at any time) (emphasis added).” *Town of Hilton Head Island*, 370 S.C. at 223. (holding that the Circuit Court erred in failing to grant a motion to dismiss for lack of subject matter jurisdiction after Godwin did not timely file an appeal). "The acts of a court with respect to a matter as to which it has no jurisdiction are void." *State v. Guthrie*, 352 S.C. 103, 107, 572 S.E.2d 309, 311-12 (Ct. App. 2002).

If the Court lacks subject matter jurisdiction, it has no power to hear the case and it must dismiss the action. *See Myers v. Town of Calhoun Falls & Savannah Valley Trails*, 441 S.C. 146, 153, 892 S.E.2d 514, 518 (Ct. App. 2023); Rule 12(h)(3), SCRPC. A case can be dismissed for lack of subject matter jurisdiction at any time, and this case must be dismissed now because there is no remedy for Appellant’s mistakes and he must face the consequences of his own actions.

II. THE QUESTION OF NOTICE OF THE ORDER OF DISMISSAL WAS WAIVED BY APPELLANT’S ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF DELIVERY OF THE ORDER.

Appellant did not raise any arguments or questions regarding the delivery of the order of dismissal from the Magistrate Court through the entirety of his Circuit Court appeal. Rather, he argued questions of notice for the first time in his Motion to Reconsider, once his case had been dismissed due to his error. Even if this Court determines that notice of the dismissal was improper, Appellant has waived the opportunity to argue improper notice. "At a minimum, issue preservation requires that an issue be raised to and ruled upon by the trial [court]." *Herron v. Centruy BMW*, 395 S.C. 461, 465 (2011) (citing *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998)). This Court must hold Appellant to his prior statements and his arguments made on his appeal to the Circuit Court.

a. Appellant admitted he received notice of the Order of Dismissal and that the 30-day deadline to appeal was January 3, 2025.

Appellant has repeatedly confirmed that he received notice of the Magistrate Court's order and that the 30-day deadline for filing his Notice of Appeal was January 3, 2025. He now contradicts his own pleadings by seeking to argue that he did not receive this notice. Appellant should be held to his own statements of the facts. He cannot be permitted to revoke his prior statements in an attempt to save his case on appeal.

"Parties are generally bound by their pleadings and are precluded from advancing arguments or submitting evidence contrary to those assertions." *Johnson v. Alexander*, 413 S.C. 196, 202, 775 S.E.2d 697, 700 (2015). Attorneys are bound by their factual admissions contained in Court filings and may not contradict the facts admitted by the pleadings, without the Court necessarily making a "judicial estoppel" finding. *See In re Murdaugh*, 437 S.C. 15, 15, 875 S.E.2d 625, 626 (2022) ("Respondent [Murdaugh] has admitted in various court proceedings and filings that he engaged in financial misconduct involving theft of money from his former law firm; that he solicited his own murder to defraud his life insurance carrier; and that he is liable for the theft of \$4,305,000 in settlement funds."); *In re Murdaugh*, 436 S.C. 636, 638, 875 S.E.2d 58, 59 (2022) ("Respondent [Murdaugh] is bound by the admissions contained in the documents he filed in the *Satterfield* case."); *Elrod v. All*, 243 S.C. 425, 437 (1964).¹⁰

¹⁰ In a recent unpublished case (which has no precedential value), even a non-attorney, *pro se* appellant was bound by his representation to the Circuit Court that "he was unsure if" he filed a notice of appeal with the Magistrate Court. *Grate v. Brown*, No. 2025-UP-026, 2025 S.C. App. Unpub. LEXIS 34, at *2 (Ct. App. Jan. 29, 2025) (unpublished) ("We hold the circuit court did not err in dismissing Grate's appeal because Grate did not file his notice of appeal with the magistrate's court. . . . We find no merit in Grate's contention that he was not given an opportunity to argue against dismissal because the circuit court asked Grate if he filed his appeal with the magistrate's court and Grate indicated he was unsure if he did.").

Appellant Hawkins, a South Carolina attorney, is bound by his admissions that “[t]he Magistrate Court’s dismissal . . . was entered on December 3, 2024,” that he “received notice the case had been dismissed via email from the Magistrate Court on December 4, 2024,” that “[t]he operative 30-day period began on December 4, 2024, the date that the Magistrate Court delivered its written notice of judgment to the parties,” and that “the applicable 30-day deadline for filing and service of the Notice of Appeal [was] January 3, 2025.” (R. p. 538; R. p. 418; R. p. 416). These unambiguous factual admissions made by Appellant in his own pleadings are binding. He states that he received notice of the dismissal and clearly knew the date his 30-day window would close. This Court should now hold Appellant to his own factual admissions which supported the Motion to Dismiss.

b. Appellant did not raise any concerns with the delivery or notice of the dismissal until his Motion to Reconsider.

The Court cannot consider arguments on appeal that were not previously raised. Appellant has abandoned his various arguments that notice was improper by not raising them prior to his Motion to Reconsider. “[A] party cannot use a Rule 59(e) motion to advance an issue the party could have raised to the circuit court prior to judgment, but did not.” *Stevens & Wilkinson of S.C., Inc. v. City of Columbia*, 409 S.C. 563, 567, 762 S.E.2d 693, 695 (2014).

In order for an appellate court to review an issue, it must have been both argued and ruled upon in the lower court; any issue that was not properly “preserved for review should not be addressed by the Court of Appeals.” *S.C. DOT v. M & T Enters. Of Mt. Pleasant, LLC*, 379 S.C. 645, 658-659 (2008) (citing *Staubes v. City of Folly Beach*, 339 S.C. 406, 412, 529 S.E.2d 543, 546 (2000)); *State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142 (2003) (citing *Hendrix v. Eastern Distribution, Inc.*, 30 S.C. 218, 464 S.E.2d 112 (1995)). Additionally, “it is a litigant's duty to bring to the court's attention any perceived error, and the failure to do so amounts to a waiver of the alleged error.”

S.C. DOT v. First Carolina Corp., 372 S.C. 295, 301 (2007) (citing *Parks v. Morris Homes Corp.*, 245 S.C. 461, 471, 141 S.E.2d 129, 134 (1965)).

Here, Appellant did not raise the arguments he now presents regarding the notice he received of the order of dismissal in his appeal to the Circuit Court. Instead, he only made arguments regarding notice in his Motion to Reconsider, after his case was dismissed for his failure to follow the proper rules and procedures. Not only did Appellant clearly have actual notice of the dismissal, as evidenced by his own admissions and his filing of his appeal with the Circuit Court, but he did not claim any issues with the notice until he was facing the consequences of his own errors. Appellant is bound by his own admissions that he received notice of the dismissal and is limited to the arguments he had raised in his appeal. This Court must hold Appellant to the limitations he has set for himself and affirm the dismissal.

III. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT IT DID NOT HAVE APPELLATE JURISDICTION OVER THE APPEAL BECAUSE APPELLANT FAILED TO TIMELY FILE A NOTICE OF APPEAL WITH THE MAGSTRATE COURT.

A litigant's failure to timely file a notice of appeal in all required tribunals is a jurisdictional issue, which the Court cannot remedy or cure for a litigant. "The requirement of service of the notice of appeal is jurisdictional, *i.e.*, **if a party misses the deadline, the appellate court lacks jurisdiction to consider the appeal** and has no authority or discretion to 'rescue' the delinquent party by extending or ignoring the deadline for service of the notice." *Elam v. S.C. DOT*, 361 S.C. 9,14-15, 602 S.E.2d 772, 775 (2004). (emphases added); *see also In re Estate of Cretzmeyer v. Bloch*, 365 S.C. 12, 14, 615 S.E.2d 116, 116-117 (2005) (affirming circuit court's dismissal of probate court appeal, where appellant was required to serve respondent the notice of appeal and file the notice in both the probate court and in circuit court but appellant failed to file the notice in circuit court).

a. Delivery of the order of dismissal from the Magistrate Court was proper and started the 30-day clock for appeal, making the deadline to file a Notice of Appeal January 3, 2025.

The Circuit Court properly held that it did not have appellate jurisdiction over this case and properly dismissed the appeal. Delta incorporates herein by reference the arguments and case law outlined in its Motion to Dismiss Appeal for Lack of Subject Matter Jurisdiction at pp. 1-2 and Memo in Opposition to Appellant’s Motion to Reconsider at pp. 4-7. (*See* R. pp. 404-405; R. pp. 465-468). This Court should now uphold the Circuit Court’s decision to dismiss the appeal for lack of jurisdiction.

i. An email providing written notice is sufficient to start the clock for an appeal.

Appellant received notice of the Order dismissing the appeal from the Magistrate Court via email, which is a valid means to notify parties of a dismissal judgment and therefore starts the 30-day clock to file a notice of appeal. In 2022, the South Carolina Supreme Court permitted service to be completed via e-mail. *In re Service by E-Mail in the Trial Courts*, 2022 S.C. LEXIS 62, at *1, Order No. 2022-05-06-04 at (b) (May 6, 2022) (“In addition to the methods of service that may be provided for in the rules governing service of pleadings and other papers in the circuit, . . . and summary courts of this state, pleadings and other papers may be served by e-mail pursuant to the provisions of this order.”). In addition, the South Carolina Supreme Court has also held that “an email providing written notice of entry of an order or judgment . . . triggers the time to appeal as long as the email is received from the court, an attorney of record, or a party.” *Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. v. Fallon Props. S.C., LLC*, 422 S.C. 211, 217 (2018).¹¹

¹¹ The Court in Wells Fargo applied this rule specifically to Rule 203(b)(1), SCACR which states that “A notice of appeal shall be served on all respondents within thirty (30) days after receipt of written notice of entry of the order or judgment.” While the applicable rule here is Rule 74, SCRCP, this rule states that “Notice of appeal to the circuit court must be served on all parties

Here, Appellant has admitted on multiple occasions that he received notice via email that his appeal had been dismissed.¹² Only after missing the deadline for appeal and having his claims dismissed again does he now seek to claim that this notice was invalid.¹³ Since Appellant did receive the email notice alerting him to the dismissal of his appeal on December 3, 2024, the last day to file his Notice of Appeal with all parties was January 3, 2025.

- ii. *Appellant did not have 35 days to file his Notice of Appeal and Rule 6(e) in inapplicable here.*

In this appeal, Appellant raises arguments that should have been made in his first appeal and argues that, despite his acknowledgement of the written notice of dismissal via email, notice did not begin until the Magistrate Court mailed the Order explaining the judgment, and such mailing adds five extra days to the 30-day deadline to file a Notice of Appeal in Rule 18(a), SCRMC. (*See R. pp. 450-451; Appellant's Initial Brief at pp. 8-9.*) His argument is incorrect and he did not have 35 days to file his Notice of Appeal under Rule 6(e), SCRCP.

Rule 6(e), SCRCP states that an additional 5 days will be added when “the notice or paper **is served upon him by mail** or upon a person designated by statute to accept service.” (emphasis added). Appellant fails to acknowledge that notice was not served upon him by mail but rather by email.

within thirty (30) days after receipt of written notice of the judgment, order or decision appealed from.” While the South Carolina Supreme Court has not yet had a chance to contemplate whether email specifically is sufficient under Rule 74, SCRCP, the almost identical language between these two rules demonstrates that they should be subject to the same interpretation.

¹² *See* Notice of Appeal at p. 1 (“The Magistrate Court’s dismissal, which is appealed here, was entered on December 3, 2024, and **the undersigned received notice the case had been dismissed via email** from the Magistrate Court on December 4, 2024.”) (emphasis added).

¹³ Appellant raises *Robinson v. Hassiotis*, 364 S.C. 92, 610 S.E.2d 858 (Ct. App. 2005) This case was remanded because the appellant only received oral notice of his *trial date* which has more stringent requirements than notice of a judgment. In addition, Robinson only requires that written notice be provided, which it was here via email.

In *Wells Fargo*, the Supreme Court of South Carolina confirms that an email providing written notice of an order does start the clock to serve a notice of appeal. In this decision, the Court did not consider adding an extra five days for the emailed notice of the judgment:

Although Petitioners also received written notice by mail three days after receiving the email, the time to serve the notice of appeal commenced at the time the parties *first* received written notice of entry of the order. Accordingly, we find the Court of Appeals correctly determined the time to appeal was triggered on the day the parties received the email; therefore, the notice of appeal served thirty-one days thereafter was untimely.

Wells Fargo, 422 S.C. at 217, 810 S.E.2d at 859 (italics in original; underlines added).

Additionally, the South Carolina Supreme Court’s 2022 Order outlining email service rules does *not* apply Rule 6(e) to all things transmitted in an email. Rather, the 2022 Order only applies Rule 6(e) to deadlines for “responses,” *not* for statutory,¹⁴ jurisdictional filing deadlines, such as a Notice of Appeal. *See In re Service by E-Mail in the Trial Courts* at *1; *see also Witzig v. Witzig*, 325 S.C. 363, 366, 479 S.E.2d 297, 299 (Ct. App. 1996) (“Rule 6(e), SCRCP, does not provide an additional five days to file a notice of intent to appeal.”).

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